Electronic Version v1.1 Stylesheet Version v1.1

SUBMISSION TYPE: NEW ASSIGNMENT

NATURE OF CONVEYANCE: SECURITY INTEREST

CONVEYING PARTY DATA

| Name | Formerly | Execution Date | Entity Type |
|----------------------------|----------|----------------|---------------------|
| Weetabix of Canada Limited | | 05/03/2007 | CORPORATION: CANADA |

RECEIVING PARTY DATA

| Name: | J.P. Morgan Europe Limited |
|-----------------|----------------------------|
| Street Address: | 125 London Wall |
| City: | London |
| State/Country: | UNITED KINGDOM |
| Postal Code: | EC2Y5AJ |
| Entity Type: | COMPANY: UNITED KINGDOM |

PROPERTY NUMBERS Total: 3

| Property Type | Number | Word Mark |
|----------------|----------|------------|
| Serial Number: | 75814524 | GRAIN SHOP |
| Serial Number: | 78767768 | GRAINSHOP |
| Serial Number: | 78106974 | GRAINWORKS |

CORRESPONDENCE DATA

Fax Number: (212)425-5288

Correspondence will be sent via US Mail when the fax attempt is unsuccessful.

Phone: 2124257200

Email: tmdocketny@kenyon.com
Correspondent Name: Jonathan D. Reichman, Esq.

Address Line 1: One Broadway

Address Line 2: Kenyon & Kenyon LLP

Address Line 4: New York, NEW YORK 10004

ATTORNEY DOCKET NUMBER: 12900/2

DOMESTIC REPRESENTATIVE

TRADEMARK
REEL: 003551 FRAME: 0001

900078001

0.00

CH \$90

Name: Jonathan D. Reichman, Esq.

Address Line 1: One Broadway

Address Line 2: Kenyon & Kenyon LLP

Address Line 4: New York, NEW YORK 10004

| NAME OF SUBMITTER: | Jonathan D. Reichman, Esq. |
|--------------------|----------------------------|
| Signature: | /JDR/ |
| Date: | 05/29/2007 |

Total Attachments: 46

source=Security Agreement#page1.tif source=Security Agreement#page2.tif source=Security Agreement#page3.tif source=Security Agreement#page4.tif source=Security Agreement#page5.tif source=Security Agreement#page6.tif source=Security Agreement#page7.tif source=Security Agreement#page8.tif source=Security Agreement#page9.tif source=Security Agreement#page10.tif source=Security Agreement#page11.tif source=Security Agreement#page12.tif source=Security Agreement#page13.tif source=Security Agreement#page14.tif source=Security Agreement#page15.tif source=Security Agreement#page16.tif source=Security Agreement#page17.tif source=Security Agreement#page18.tif source=Security Agreement#page19.tif source=Security Agreement#page20.tif source=Security Agreement#page21.tif source=Security Agreement#page22.tif source=Security Agreement#page23.tif source=Security Agreement#page24.tif source=Security Agreement#page25.tif source=Security Agreement#page26.tif source=Security Agreement#page27.tif source=Security Agreement#page28.tif source=Security Agreement#page29.tif source=Security Agreement#page30.tif source=Security Agreement#page31.tif source=Security Agreement#page32.tif source=Security Agreement#page33.tif source=Security Agreement#page34.tif source=Security Agreement#page35.tif source=Security Agreement#page36.tif source=Security Agreement#page37.tif source=Security Agreement#page38.tif source=Security Agreement#page39.tif source=Security Agreement#page40.tif source=Security Agreement#page41.tif

source=Security Agreement#page42.tif source=Security Agreement#page43.tif source=Security Agreement#page44.tif source=Security Agreement#page45.tif source=Security Agreement#page46.tif

EXECUTION COPY

SECURITY AGREEMENT

DATED AS OF MAY 3, 2007

Between

THE WEETABIX COMPANY, INC.

BARBARA'S BAKERY, INC.

WEETABEX LIMITED

WEETABIX OF CANADA LIMITED

And

J.P. MORGAN EUROPE LIMITED

ALLEN & OVERY
ALLEN & OVERY LLP
NEW YORK

NY:2128403.6

CONTENTS

| Clau | ise | | Page |
|------|--------------|------------------------------------------------------------|------|
| 1. | Interpr | etation | 1 |
| | 1.1 | UCC and Senior Facilities Agreement Defined Terms | |
| | 1.2 | Other Definitions | |
| | 1.3 | Construction | |
| 2. | Creatio | on and Perfection of Security Interest | |
| | 2.1 | Grant | |
| | 2.2 | Continuing security interest | |
| | 2.3 | Filing of financing statements | |
| | 2.4 | Control | |
| | 2.5 | Delivery of Possessory Collateral | |
| • | 2.6 | Notice of security interest | |
| | 2.7 | No liability | |
| | 2.8 | Consideration and enforceability | |
| 3. | - | entations and Warranties | |
| | 3.1 | Representations and warranties | |
| | 3.2 | The Debtors | |
| | 3.3 | The Collateral | |
| | 3.4 | Security interest | |
| | 3.5 | Solvency | |
| | 3.6 | Times for making representations and warranties | |
| | 3.7 | Survival | |
| 4. | Underta | akings | |
| | 4.1 | Undertakings | |
| | 4.2 | The Debtors | |
| | 4.3 | The Collateral | |
| | 4.4 | Security interest | |
| | 4.5 | Notices | |
| 5. | | ship Provisions | |
| | 5.1 | Nature of Debtor's obligations | |
| | 5.2 | Waiver of defenses | |
| | 5.3 | Immediate recourse | |
| | 5.4 | Appropriations | |
| | 5.5 | Non-competition; waiver of subrogation | |
| | 5.6 | Additional security | |
| | 5.7 | Election of remedies | |
| | 5.8 | Information concerning the Obligors | |
| 6. | | and Remedies. | |
| | 6.1 | Collections on and after the Enforcement Date | |
| | 6.2 | Agent's rights upon the occurrence of the Enforcement Date | |
| | 6.3 | No marshaling | |
| 7, | | aneous | |
| | 7.1 | Further assurances | |
| | 7.2 | Costs and indemnity | |
| | 7.3 | Successors | |
| | | ~ ~~~~~~~~~~ | |

| | 7.4 | Amendments and waivers | 22 |
|------|----------|--------------------------------------------------------|----|
| | 7.5 | Rights cumulative | 22 |
| | 7.6 | Severability | 23 |
| | 7.7 | Counterparts | |
| | 7.8 | Notices | 23 |
| | 7.9 | Jurisdiction | 24 |
| | 7.10 | Complete Agreement | 25 |
| | 7.11 | Waiver of Jury Trial | 25 |
| | 7.12 | Governing Law | 25 |
| | 7.13 | Release of Security Interest | 25 |
| | | | |
| Sign | atories | | 26 |
| Scho | edules | | |
| 1. | Comme | rcial Tort Claims | 27 |
| 2. | Contrac | ts and Counterparties to Contracts being Assigned | 28 |
| 3. | Address | ses at which Collateral Consisting of Goods is Located | 29 |
| 4. | Copyrig | zhts | 30 |
| 5. | Patents. | *************************************** | 31 |
| 6. | | arks | |
| Exh | ibits | | |
| 1. | Form of | F Assignment Notice | 1 |
| 2. | Form of | Assignment Acknowledgement | 3 |
| 3. | | Bailee Notice | |
| 4. | | Bailee Acknowledgement | |
| 5. | | nancing Statements | |
| | | - | |

THIS AGREEMENT is dated as of May 3, 2007

BETWEEN:

- (1) The Weetabix Company, Inc., a Delaware corporation (WCI);
- (2) Barbara's Bakery, Inc., a California corporation (BBI) (and together with WCI, each a US Debtor, and collectively the US Debtors);
- (3) Weetabix Limited, a limited liability company organized under the laws of England and Wales with registered number 267687 (WL);
- (4) Weetabix of Canada Limited (WCL) (and together with WCI, BBI, and WL, each a **Debtor**, and collectively the **Debtors**); and
- (5) J.P. Morgan Europe Limited, as Security Agent for itself and the other Secured Parties (in that capacity the **Agent**).

BACKGROUND:

- (A) Latimer Group Limited, Latimer Acquisitions Limited and the Agent, among others, have entered into a facilities agreement dated December 20, 2005, as amended on 17 February 2006 and 8 March 2006 and as amended and restated on 13 September 2006 and as further amended and restated by a supplemental deed (the Supplemental Deed) dated on or about the date of this Agreement (the Senior Facilities Agreement).
- (B) It is a condition precedent to the obligations of the Agent and the other Secured Parties under the Supplemental Deed that each Debtor enter into this Agreement and grant the security described in this Agreement.

IT IS AGREED as follows:

1. INTERPRETATION

1.1 UCC and Senior Facilities Agreement Defined Terms

Any term defined in the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect from time to time in the State of New York (the UCC) and not defined in this Agreement has the meaning given to the term in the UCC. Any term defined in or whose interpretation is provided for in the Senior Facilities Agreement and not defined in this Agreement or the UCC has the meaning given to the term in the Senior Facilities Agreement.

1.2 Other Definitions

In this Agreement:

2005 General Security Agreement means the general security agreement dated 22 December 2005 entered into between, WCI, BBI, WL, WCL, Northern Gold Foods Ltd. and J.P. Morgan Europe Limited as security agent.

Advance includes each other Drawing under the Facilities.

Bailee means any bailee, processor, shipper, warehouseman, agent or other third party at any time having possession of any Collateral.

Collateral means

- (a) with respect to each Debtor, all IP Collateral arising under the laws of the United States of America,
- (b) with respect to each US Debtor, all personal property, wherever located, in which such Debtor now has or later acquires any right title or interest, including all:

accounts,

chattel paper (including tangible chattel paper and electronic chattel paper),

goods (including equipment, inventory and fixtures),

health-care-insurance receivables,

instruments (including promissory notes),

investment property,

documents,

deposit accounts,

letter-of-credit rights,

general intangibles (including payment intangibles),

software,

supporting obligations,

other assets (including inventions, discoveries, trade secrets, intellectual property rights, Patents, Trademarks and Copyrights, registrations of and applications relating to any of the foregoing, and all associated goodwill), and

(c) with respect to each Debtor, to the extent not listed above as original Collateral, proceeds and products of, and accessions to, the foregoing.

The term Collateral also includes all existing commercial tort claims of each US Debtor as described in Schedule 1 (Commercial Tort Claims).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Collateral shall not include any property, right or interest in which a security interest may not be granted under applicable law or under enforceable contractual restrictions binding on any Debtor.

Control Agreements has the meaning given to that term in Clause 2.4 (Control).

Copyrights shall mean the copyrights of the Debtors (including those described in Schedule 4), and:

- (a) all common law rights therein;
- (b) all applications and resignations thereof;
- (c) all renewals and extensions thereof;

- (d) all income, royalties, damages, and payments owed to any Debtor now or hereafter due and/or payable to any Debtor with respect thereto (including payments under all licenses granted by any Debtor in connection therewith and damages and payments owed to any Debtor for past or future infringements thereof); and
- (e) the right to sue or otherwise recover for all past, present, and future infringements thereof, and all rights corresponding thereto within the United States of America.

Enforcement Date means the date on which the Agent declares this Agreement to be enforceable in accordance with Clause 11.2(a)(iv), 11.2(b)(iv) or 11.2(c)(iii) of the Senior Facilities Agreement or any of the events or circumstances described in Clause 11.4 of the Senior Facilities Agreement occurs, whichever is the first to occur.

IP Collateral shall mean the intellectual property and proprietary rights of the Debtors throughout the world, now or hereafter existing, including all existing and future Patents, inventions, discoveries, trade secrets, Copyrights, works of authorship, license rights, Trademarks, service marks, trade names, designs, logos, trade dress, domain names, and all associated goodwill, including those details set out in Schedules 4, 5 and 6 to this Agreement, and all embodiments or fixations thereof and related documentation, applications and registrations, therefor, all common law rights therein, and all additions, improvements, accessions, extensions, renewal, reversions to, and all books and records describing or used in connection with, any of the foregoing and all associated products.

Lien has the meaning ascribed to the term "Encumbrance" in the Senior Facilities Agreement.

Material Intellectual Property means Intellectual Property Rights which are owned by or licensed to a Debtor and which are material to the conduct of any Debtor's business.

Patents shall mean the patents of the Debtors (including those described in Schedule 5), and:

- (a) any and all additions thereto and reissues, extensions, continuations, continuations-inpart, divisionals and renewals thereof;
- (b) all applications and registrations therefor;
- (c) all income, royalties, damages, and payments owed to any Debtor now or hereafter due and/or payable to any Debtor with respect thereto (including payments under all licenses granted by any Debtor in connection therewith and damages and payments owed to any Debtor for past or future infringements thereof); and
- (d) the right to sue or otherwise recover for all past, present, and future infringements thereof, and all rights corresponding thereto within the United States of America.

Possessory Collateral means all Collateral consisting of:

- (a) certificated securities;
- (b) instruments;

- (c) tangible chattel paper, other than tangible chattel paper that has been legended in compliance with Clause 4.3(c) (The Collateral); and
- (d) negotiable documents.

Secured Obligations means

- (a) all obligations and liabilities of each Debtor now or hereafter due, owing or incurred by it to the Secured Parties or any of them under or pursuant to the Finance Documents, and
- (b) with respect to each US Debtor, the following (whether now existing or later arising):
 - (i) the Advances and all other amounts payable under the Finance Documents;
 - (ii) all other obligations of such US Debtor and the other Obligors under the Finance Documents;
 - (iii) all obligations of such US Debtor under this Agreement and the Control Agreements;
 - (iv) all amounts owed under any amendments, modifications, renewals, extensions or novations of any of the foregoing obligations; and
 - (v) any of the foregoing that arises after the filing of a petition by or against any US Debtor or any other Obligor under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code of 1978, even if the obligations do not accrue because of the automatic stay under section 362 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code of 1978 or otherwise.

Secured Parties means the Finance Parties.

Trademarks shall mean the trademarks, service marks, trade names and domain names of the Debtors (including those described in Schedule 6), and:

- (a) all common law rights therein;
- (b) all applications and registrations thereof;
- (c) all renewals and extensions thereof;
- (d) all income, royalties, damages, and payments owed to any Debtor now or hereafter due and/or payable to any Debtor with respect thereto (including payments under all licenses granted by any Debtor in connection therewith and damages and payments owed to any Debtor for past or future infringements thereof); and
- (e) the right to sue or otherwise recover for all past, present, and future infringements hereof, and all rights corresponding thereto within the United States of America; together in each case with the goodwill of the business connected with the use of and symbolized by each trademark.

1.3 Construction

- (a) No reference to proceeds in this Agreement authorizes any sale, transfer or other disposition of Collateral by any Debtor, such authority issuing solely by the terms of the Senior Facilities Agreement.
- (b) Includes and including are not limiting.
- (c) Or is not exclusive.
- (d) All includes any and any includes all.
- (e) The term law includes any law, statute, regulation, regulatory requirement, rule, ordinance, ruling, decision, treaty, directive, order, guideline, regulation, policy, writ, judgment, injunction or request of any court or other governmental, inter-governmental or supranational body, officer or official, fiscal or monetary authority, or other ministry or public entity (and their interpretation, administration and application), whether or not having the force of law.
- (f) A reference to a law is a reference to that law as amended or re-enacted and to any successor law.
- (g) A reference to an agreement is a reference to that agreement as amended, supplemented, restated or novated.
- (h) References to a person shall be construed as including references to an individual, firm, company, corporation, unincorporated body of persons or any State or any of its agencies.
- (i) Clause headings used in this Agreement are for convenience only. They are not a part of this Agreement and shall not be used in construing it.

2. CREATION AND PERFECTION OF SECURITY INTEREST

2.1 Grant

As security for the prompt and complete payment and performance of the Secured Obligations when due (whether due because of stated maturity, acceleration, mandatory prepayment, or otherwise) and to induce the Secured Parties to make the Advances under the Facility B Tranche 3, each Debtor grants to the Agent for the benefit of the Secured Parties a continuing security interest in the Collateral of such Debtor.

2.2 Continuing security interest

- (a) This Agreement creates a continuing security interest in the Collateral and will remain in full force and effect until the irrevocable and indefeasible payment in full of the ultimate balance of the Secured Obligations, regardless of any intermediate payment or discharge in whole or in part.
- (b) If, at any time for any reason (including the bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership, reorganization, dissolution or liquidation of any Debtor or any other Obligor or the appointment of any receiver, intervenor or conservator of, or agent or similar official for,

any Debtor or any other Obligor or any of their respective properties), any payment received by the Agent or any other Secured Party in respect of the Secured Obligations is rescinded or avoided or must otherwise be restored or returned by the Agent or any other Secured Party, that payment shall not be considered to have been made for purposes of this Agreement, and this Agreement will continue to be effective or will be reinstated, if necessary, as if that payment had not been made.

2.3 Filing of financing statements

Each Debtor authorizes the Agent to prepare and file, at such Debtor's expense, financing statements describing the Collateral of such Debtor, as well as continuation statements and amendments in respect of those financing statements. Each US Debtor expressly authorizes the Agent, if it so elects, to file financing statements with the collateral description "all assets of the Debtor", "all personal property of the Debtor" or other words to that effect.

2.4 Control

Other than with respect to those deposit accounts which contain investment property, cash balances or deposits of cash which do not on the date hereof exceed in the aggregate the applicable amounts set forth in Clause 10.5(w) (Cash balances) of the Senior Facilities Agreement, each US Debtor and all other necessary parties have entered into appropriate control agreements with the Agent in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Agent (Control Agreements) and have taken all other actions necessary for the Agent to have control of any Collateral consisting of:

- (a) deposit accounts;
- (b) investment property;
- (c) letter-of-credit rights; and
- (d) electronic chattel paper.

If after the date of this Agreement any US Debtor acquires Collateral consisting of any of the foregoing types of collateral, and this new Collateral is not covered by an existing Control Agreement, such Debtor will, except with respect to those deposit accounts which do not at any one time contain investment property, cash balances or deposits of cash which exceeds in the aggregate as to all such deposit accounts the applicable amounts set forth in Clause 10.5(w) (Cash balances) of the Senior Facilities Agreement, enter into a Control Agreement in respect of this new Collateral and take all other actions necessary for the Agent to have control over this new Collateral.

2.5 Delivery of Possessory Collateral

Each US Debtor has delivered to the Agent (or as directed by the Agent) the originals of all Possessory Collateral existing on the date of this Agreement, and each US Debtor agrees to deliver to the Agent (or as directed by the Agent), immediately upon receipt, originals of any other Possessory Collateral arising or acquired by such Debtor after the date of this Agreement, to the extent not already delivered to the Agent. All Possessory Collateral delivered under this Agreement will be either duly endorsed and in suitable form for transfer by delivery or

accompanied by undated instruments of transfer endorsed in blank, as directed by the Agent, and in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Agent. The Agent will hold (directly or through an agent) all Possessory Collateral and related instruments of transfer delivered to it until the Agent's security interest has been released in accordance with Clause 7.13 (Release of Security Interest) below.

2.6 Notice of security interest

- (a) Each US Debtor has executed a notice in the form of Exhibit 1 (an Assignment Notice) in respect of each account, contract or agreement identified in Part 1 of Schedule 2 (Contracts and Counterparties to Contracts being Assigned) and delivered each of these notices to the appropriate account debtors and contract parties identified in Part 1 of Schedule 2 (Contracts and Counterparties to Contracts being Assigned). Each US Debtor shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause each of these account debtors and contract parties to deliver to the Agent an acknowledgement in the form of Exhibit 2 (an Assignment Acknowledgement) within 30 days of the date of this Agreement. Promptly following the occurrence of the Enforcement Date, each US Debtor will (i) give notice to the Agent of each material account, contract or agreement then existing, and (ii) send an Assignment Notice to the relevant account debtor or contract party and use its best efforts to cause that account debtor or contract party to deliver a signed Assignment Acknowledgement promptly to the Agent.
- (b) Subject to the second sentence of this Clause 2.6(b), on and after the date of this Agreement no US Debtor will permit any Bailee to hold Collateral unless and until it has delivered to that Bailee a notice substantially in the form of Exhibit 3 (a Bailee Notice) (with such changes thereto as may be mutually agreed by the parties hereto) and that Bailee has delivered to the Agent a signed acknowledgement substantially in the form of Exhibit 4 (a Bailee Acknowledgement) (with such changes thereto as may be mutually agreed by the parties hereto). Notwithstanding the foregoing, the US Debtors may permit Bailees who have failed to comply with the preceding sentence to hold Collateral with a fair market value not exceeding \$3,000,000 at any time in the aggregate as to all such Bailees.

2.7 No liability

Each Debtor represents, warrants and agrees that:

- (a) its liabilities and obligations under contractual obligations that constitute part of the Collateral of such Debtor shall not be affected by this Agreement or the exercise by the Agent of its rights under this Agreement;
- (b) neither the Agent nor any other Secured Party, unless it expressly agrees in writing, shall have any liabilities or obligations under any contractual obligation that constitutes part of such Collateral as a result of this Agreement, the exercise by the Agent of its rights under this Agreement or otherwise; and
- (c) neither the Agent nor any other Secured Party has or shall have any obligation to collect upon or enforce any contractual obligation or claim that constitutes part of such Collateral, or to take any other action with respect to such Collateral.

2.8 Consideration and enforceability

- (a) Each Debtor represents, warrants and agrees that:
- (i) it will receive valuable direct and indirect benefits as a result of the transactions financed by the Advances (including the Advances under Facility B Tranche 3); and
- (ii) these benefits will constitute "reasonably equivalent value" and "fair consideration" as those terms are used in the fraudulent transfer laws.
- (b) Each Debtor acknowledges and agrees that each of the Secured Parties has acted in good faith in connection with the security interest granted under this Agreement.
- (c) This Agreement shall be enforceable against each Debtor to the maximum extent permitted by the fraudulent transfer laws.
- (d) For purposes of this Clause, "fraudulent transfer laws" mean applicable United States bankruptcy and State fraudulent transfer and conveyance statutes and the related case law.

3. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

3.1 Representations and warranties

Each Debtor makes the representations and warranties set out in this Clause 3 to each Secured Party.

3.2 The Debtors

- (a) WCI
- (i) WCI is incorporated in the State of Delaware.
- (ii) WCI's exact legal name, as it appears in the public records of its jurisdiction of incorporation is The Weetabix Company, Inc. Except as may be set forth in the official records of the State of Delaware, WCI has not changed its name, whether by amendment of its charter, reorganization, merger or otherwise, since its date of incorporation.
- (iii) WCI's organizational number, as issued by its jurisdiction of incorporation, is 2085572.
- (iv) WCI's chief executive office is located at 20 Cameron Street, Clinton, Massachusetts.
- (b) BBI
- (i) BBI is incorporated in the State of California.
- (ii) BBI's exact legal name, as it appears in the public records of its jurisdiction of incorporation is Barbara's Bakery, Inc. Except as may be set forth in the official records of the State of California, BBI has not changed its name, whether by amendment of its charter, reorganization, merger or otherwise, since its date of incorporation.

- (iii) BBI's organizational number, as issued by the jurisdiction of incorporation is C0729092.
- (iv) BBI's chief executive office is located at 3900 Cyprus Drive, Petaluma, California.
- (c) WL
- (i) WL is incorporated in England and Wales.
- (ii) WL's exact legal name, as it appears in the public records of its jurisdiction of incorporation, is Weetabix Limited. Except as may be set forth in the official records at Companies House, WL has not changed its name since its date of incorporation.
- (d) WCL
- (i) WCL is incorporated in Canada.
- (ii) WCL's exact legal name, as it appears in the public records of its jurisdiction of incorporation, is Weetabix of Canada Limited. Except as may be set forth in the official records at Industry Canada, Corporations Directorate, 9th Floor, Jean Edmonds Tower South, 365 Laurier Avenue West, Ottawa, Ontartio K1A 0C8, WCL has not changed its name since its date of incorporation.
- (e) Each Debtor keeps at the address indicated in Schedule 3 (Addresses in which Collateral Consisting of Goods is Located) its corporate records and all records, documents and instruments constituting, relating to or evidencing Collateral, except for the Possessory Collateral delivered to the Agent in compliance with Clause 2.5 (Delivery of Possessory Collateral) above.

3.3 The Collateral

- (a) Each Debtor has exclusive possession and control of all Collateral except for Collateral subject to a Control Agreement in compliance with Clause 2.4 (Control) above and Possessory Collateral delivered to the Agent in compliance with Clause 2.5 (Delivery of Possessory Collateral) above.
- (b) Except as permitted under the Senior Facilities Agreement:
- (i) each Debtor is the sole legal and beneficial owner of, and has the power to transfer and grant a security interest in, the Collateral;
- (ii) none of the Collateral is subject to any Lien other than any Permitted Encumbrance;
- (iii) each Debtor has not agreed or committed to sell, assign, pledge, transfer, license, lease or encumber any of the Collateral, or granted any option, warrant or right with respect to any of the Collateral; and
- (iv) no effective mortgage, deed of trust, financing statement, security agreement or other instrument similar in effect is on file or of record with respect to any Collateral, except for those that create, perfect or evidence the Agent's security interest.

- (c) All Collateral of the US Debtors consisting of goods is located solely at the addresses listed in Schedule 3 (Addresses in which Collateral Consisting of Goods is Located).
- (d) None of the Collateral is in the public domain.
- (e) None of the registrations for Collateral constituting Material Intellectual Property is expired.
- (f) The Debtors have made all appropriate filings in respect of Collateral constituting Material Intellectual Property in the United States Patent and Trademark Office (the **PTO**) under 15 U.S.C. §§ 1058, 1059 and 1065 to maintain and maximize the protection for such registrations.
- (g) All of the Trademarks which are the subject of the registrations set forth in Schedule 6 (Trademarks) hereto and which constitute Material Intellectual Property have been in continuous use from the first use dates identified in such registrations.
- (h) All of the Copyrights which are the subject of the registrations set forth in Schedule 4 (Copyrights) hereto and which constitute Material Intellectual Property constitute original works of authorship.
- (i) None of the Collateral constituting Material Intellectual Property infringes, violates, dilutes, impairs, misappropriates, conflicts with, or breaches any right or interest of any third party (including any trademark right, service mark right, trade name right, Internet domain name right, copyright right, patent right, inventorship right, trade secret right, moral right, privacy right, publicity right, or contractual right), and no third party has asserted a claim, or is currently asserting a claim, with respect thereto.
- (j) Nothing will inhibit or impair in any material respect the Debtor's full enjoyment of the Collateral, including the right to use, exploit, license, and enforce same, as contemplated by this Agreement.
- (k) To any Debtor's knowledge, no third party is infringing, violating, diluting, impairing, or misappropriating any of the Collateral in any material respect.
- (I) Except as disclosed in Part 2 of Schedule 2, none of the Collateral is the subject of any outstanding license agreement (whether exclusive or non-exclusive), consent, permission, right-to-use, or release.

3.4 Security interest

- (a) This Agreement confers the security interest it purports to confer over the Collateral in favor of the Agent, and, subject to the provisions of section 552 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code, that security interest is not liable to avoidance on liquidation or bankruptcy, composition or any other similar insolvency proceedings.
- (b) The description of the Collateral contained in this Agreement is true, correct, and complete in all material respects and is sufficient to describe the Collateral for the purpose of creating, attaching, and perfecting the security interest in favor of the Agent intended to be created by this Agreement.

As of the Drawdown Date in respect of Facility B Tranche 3, the security interest granted pursuant to this Agreement shall constitute a valid and continuing perfected security interest in favor of the Agent in the Collateral upon, (i) in the case of all Collateral in which a security interest may be perfected by filing a financing statement under the UCC, the filing of the financing statements attached hereto as Exhibit 5 (UCC Financing Statements), in each case in the jurisdiction noted at bottom of each such financing statement, and (ii) the delivery to the Agent of all Possessory Collateral, in each case properly endorsed for transfer to the Agent in blank. Such security interests shall be prior to all other Liens on the Collateral except for Permitted Encumbrances having priority over the Agent's Lien by operation of law or otherwise as permitted by the Senior Facilities Agreement.

3.5 Solvency

- (a) The sum of each Debtor's debts (including its obligations under this Agreement) is less than the value of such Debtor's property (calculated at the lesser of fair valuation and present fair saleable value).
- (b) The capital of each Debtor is not unreasonably small to conduct its business as currently conducted or as proposed to be conducted.
- (c) Each Debtor has not incurred, does not intend to incur and does not believe it will incur debts beyond its ability to pay as they mature.
- (d) Each Debtor has not made a transfer or incurred an obligation under this Agreement with the intent to hinder, delay or defraud any of its present or future creditors.
- (e) For purposes of this Clause:
- (i) **debt** means any liability on a claim;
- (ii) claim means:
 - (A) any right to payment, whether or not that right is reduced to judgment, liquidated, unliquidated, fixed, contingent, matured, unmatured, disputed, undisputed, legal, equitable, secured or unsecured; or
 - (B) any right to an equitable remedy for breach of performance if that breach gives rise to a right to payment, whether or not the right to an equitable remedy is reduced to judgment, fixed, contingent, matured, unmatured, disputed, undisputed, secured or unsecured; and
- (iii) terms used in this Clause shall be construed in accordance with the applicable United States and New York bankruptcy and fraudulent conveyance statutes and the related case law.

3.6 Times for making representations and warranties

(a) The representations and warranties set out in this Clause 3 (Representations and Warranties) are made on the date of this Agreement.

(b) The representations and warranties set out in Clauses 3.3(a), 3.3(b), 3.4(a) and 3.4(b) are deemed to be repeated by each Debtor on each day on which certain of the representations and warranties contained in the terms of the Senior Facilities Agreement are repeated in accordance with the terms thereof until all the Secured Obligations have been paid or discharged in full and none of the Secured Parties has any obligation to permit Secured Obligations to be incurred by it, as if made with reference to the facts and circumstances existing on each such day.

3.7 Survival

The representations and warranties of each Debtor contained in this Agreement or made by the Debtor in any certificate, notice or report delivered under this Agreement will survive each Drawdown Date, the making and repayment of the Advances, the entry into and performance of the Hedge Documents, and any novation, transfer or assignment of the Advances and/or the Hedge Documents.

4. UNDERTAKINGS

4.1 Undertakings

Each Debtor covenants and agrees that, so long as any Secured Party has any commitment under either of the Senior Facilities Agreement and until payment in full of the Secured Obligations, it will perform and observe each of the undertakings in this Clause 4 (Undertakings).

4.2 The Debtors

- (a) Each Debtor will preserve its corporate existence and will not, except as otherwise expressly permitted by the Senior Facilities Agreement, in one transaction or a series of related transactions, merge into or consolidate with any other entity, or sell all or substantially all of its assets.
- (b) Each Debtor will not change the jurisdiction of its incorporation.
- (c) The Debtor will not change its name without providing the Agent with 30 days prior written notice.
- (d) Each Debtor will keep at its address indicated in Clause 7.8 (Notices) below or such other addresses notified to the Agent its corporate records and all records, documents and instruments constituting, relating to or evidencing Collateral, except for the Possessory Collateral delivered to the Agent in compliance with Clause 2.5 (Delivery of Possessory Collateral) above.
- (e) Each Debtor agrees to permit the Agent and its agents and representatives, during normal business hours and upon reasonable notice, to inspect the Collateral, to examine and make copies of and abstracts from the records referred to in paragraph (d) above, and to discuss matters relating to the Collateral directly with such Debtor's officers and employees.
- (f) Upon request, each Debtor shall provide the Agent with such information concerning the Collateral as the Agent shall reasonably request.

4.3 The Collateral

- (a) Except as otherwise expressly permitted by the Senior Facilities Agreement:
- (i) each Debtor will maintain sole legal and beneficial ownership of the Collateral;
- (ii) each Debtor will not permit any Collateral to be subject to any Lien other than any Permitted Encumbrance and will at all times warrant and defend the Agent's security interest in the Collateral against all other Liens; and
- (iii) each Debtor will not, and is not authorized to, sell, assign, transfer, pledge, license, lease or encumber, or grant any option, warrant, or right with respect to, any of the Collateral, or agree or contract to do any of the foregoing.
- (b) The Collateral shall remain personal property at all times. No US Debtor shall affix any of the Collateral to any real property in any manner which would change its nature from that of personal property to real property or to a fixture.
- (c) Each US Debtor shall mark conspicuously all Collateral consisting of chattel paper with a legend, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Agent, indicating that the Agent has a security interest in the chattel paper.
- (d) Except as otherwise expressly permitted by the Senior Facilities Agreement, each Debtor shall pay when due (and in any case before any penalties are assessed or any Lien is imposed on any Collateral) all taxes, assessments and charges imposed on or in respect of Collateral and all claims against the Collateral, including claims for labor, materials and supplies.
- (e) In any suit, legal action, arbitration or other proceeding involving the Collateral or the Agent's security interest, each Debtor will take all lawful action to avoid impairment of the Agent's security interest or the Agent's rights under this Agreement or the imposition of a Lien on any Collateral other than a Permitted Encumbrance.
- (f) Each Debtor will not permit any Collateral to be subject to any security interest other than Permitted Encumbrances and will at all times warrant and defend the Agent's security interest in the Collateral against all other security interests.
- (g) Each Debtor will take any and all lawful action to avoid impairment of the Agent's security interest or the Agent's rights under this Agreement or the imposition of any other security interest (other than Permitted Encumbrances) on any Collateral.
- (h) Each Debtor will not, and will not permit any of its licensees or sublicensees to, commit or omit to perform any act whereby any Material Intellectual Property may become forfeited, abandoned or dedicated to the public.
- (i) Each Debtor (either itself or through its licensees or its sublicensees) will, for each Trademark that is Material Intellectual Property, (i) maintain such Trademark (including pursuit of all applications and maintenance of all registrations) in full force and effect free from any claim of abandonment or invalidity for non-use, (ii) maintain as in the past the quality of products and services offered under such Trademark, (iii) use such

Trademark with notice of federal or foreign registration to the extent sufficient to establish and preserve its maximum rights under applicable law and (iv) not knowingly use or knowingly permit the use of such Trademark in violation of any third party rights.

- (j) No Debtor (either itself or through licensees or sublicensees) shall (i) do any act or omit to do any act whereby any portion of the Copyrights that is Material Intellectual Property may become invalidated or otherwise impaired nor (ii) do any act whereby any portion of the Copyrights that is Material Intellectual Property may fall into the public domain.
- (k) No Debtor (either itself or through licensees or sublicensees) shall do any act that knowingly uses any Material Intellectual Property to infringe, misappropriate, or violate the intellectual property rights of any other person.
- (I) Each Debtor shall notify the Agent promptly if it knows, or has reason to know, that any application or registration relating to any Material Intellectual Property may become forfeited, abandoned or dedicated to the public, or of any adverse determination or development (including the institution of, or any such determination or development in, any proceeding in the PTO, the United States Copyright Office or any court or tribunal in any country) regarding such Debtor's ownership of, right to use, interest in, or the validity of, any Material Intellectual Property or such Debtor's right to register the same or to own and maintain the same.
- (m) Whenever any Debtor, either by itself or through any agent, licensee or designee, shall file an application for the registration of any Intellectual Property Rights with the PTO, the United States Copyright Office or any similar office or agency within or outside the United States of America, such Debtor shall report such filing to the Agent within ten Banking Days after the last day of the financial quarter in which such filing occurs. Upon request of the Agent, such Debtor shall execute and deliver, and have recorded, all agreements, instruments, documents and papers as the Agent may reasonably request to evidence the Agent's security interest in any Copyright, Patent or Trademark and the goodwill and general intangibles of such Debtor relating thereto or represented thereby.
- (n) Each Debtor shall take all reasonable actions necessary or requested by the Agent, including in any proceeding before the PTO, the United States Copyright Office or any similar office or agency, to maintain and pursue each application (and to obtain the relevant registration) and to maintain each registration of any Copyright, Trademark or Patent that is Material Intellectual Property, including filing of applications for renewal, affidavits of use, affidavits of incontestability and opposition and interference and cancellation proceedings.
- (o) In the event that any Material Intellectual Property is or has been infringed upon or misappropriated or diluted by a third party, the applicable Debtor shall notify the Agent promptly after such Debtor learns thereof. Such Debtor shall take appropriate action in response to such infringement, misappropriation of dilution, including promptly bringing suit for infringement, misappropriation or dilution and to recover all damages for such infringement, misappropriation of dilution, and shall take such other actions may be appropriate in its reasonable judgment under the circumstances to protect such Material Intellectual Property.

- (p) Each Debtor will take all necessary steps, or steps reasonably requested by the Agent, that are consistent with the practice in any proceeding before the PTO or the United States Copyright office or any office or agency of any other country, to maintain and pursue each material application relating to any of the patents, trademarks and copyrights that are Material Intellectual Property (and to obtain the relevant grant or registration) and to maintain each issued patent and each registration of the trademarks and copyrights material to each Debtor's business, including timely filings of applications for renewal, affidavits of use, affidavits of incontestability and payment of maintenance fees.
- (q) Upon the occurrence of the Enforcement Date, each Debtor shall use its best efforts to obtain all requisite consents or approvals by the licensor or licensee, as the case may be, under each patent, trademark or copyright license to effect the assignment of all of such Debtor's right, title and interest thereunder to the Agent or its designee.

4.4 Security interest

Each Debtor shall take all actions necessary to insure that the Agent has and continues to have in all relevant jurisdictions a duly and validly created, attached, perfected and enforceable security interest (ranking second only to the first-priority security interest created by the 2005 General Security Agreement) in the Collateral (including after-acquired Collateral). Promptly upon acquiring rights in any Collateral, each Debtor shall deliver possession of any Collateral to the Agent or its designated agent to the extent the Agent is required under applicable law to perfect its interest in that Collateral by taking possession.

4.5 Notices

Each Debtor will give the Agent prompt notice of the occurrence of any of the following events:

- (a) any pending or threatened claim, suit, legal action, arbitration or other proceeding involving or affecting such Debtor or any Collateral which could reasonably be expected to impair the Agent's security interest or the Agent's rights under this Agreement; or
- (b) any loss or damage to any material portion of the Collateral.

In each notice delivered under this Clause, each Debtor will include reasonable details concerning the occurrence that is the subject of the notice as well as such Debtor's proposed course of action, if any. Delivery of a notice under this Clause will not affect any Debtor's obligations to comply with any other provision of this Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, it is agreed that any notice to the Agent under the Senior Facilities Agreement that satisfies the foregoing shall constitute notice to the Agent under this Agreement.

5. SURETYSHIP PROVISIONS

5.1 Nature of Debtor's obligations

Each Debtor's obligations under this Agreement are independent of any obligation of any other Obligor or any other person, and a separate action or actions may be brought and prosecuted against each Debtor under this Agreement, and the Agent may enforce its rights under this Agreement, whether or not any action is brought or prosecuted against any other Obligor or any

other person and whether or not any other Obligor or any other person is joined in any action under this Agreement.

5.2 Waiver of defenses

- (a) The obligations of each Debtor under this Agreement will not be affected by, and each Debtor irrevocably waives any defense it might have by virtue of, any act, omission, matter or thing which, but for this Clause, would reduce, release or prejudice any of its obligations under this Agreement, including (whether or not known to it or any Secured Party):
- (i) any time, forbearance, extension or waiver granted to, or composition or compromise with, an Obligor or any other person;
- (ii) the taking, variation, compromise, exchange, renewal or release of, or refusal or neglect to perfect, take up or enforce, any rights against, or security over assets of, any Obligor or any other person or any non-presentation or non-observance of any formality or other requirement in respect of any instrument or any failure to realize the full value of any security;
- (iii) any disability, incapacity or lack of powers, authority or legal personality of or dissolution or change in the members or status of any Obligor or any other person;
- (iv) any amendment or variation (however fundamental), restatement, replacement or novation of a Finance Document or any other document, guaranty or security so that references to that Finance Document in this Agreement shall include each amendment, variation, restatement, replacement and novation;
- (v) any unenforceability, illegality or invalidity of any obligation of any person under any Finance Document or any other document, guaranty or security, to the intent that the Agent's security interest in the Collateral and each Debtor's obligations under this Agreement shall remain in full force and be construed accordingly, as if there were no unenforceability, illegality or invalidity;
- (vi) any avoidance, postponement, discharge, reduction, non-provability or other similar circumstance affecting any obligation of any Obligor under a Finance Document resulting from any bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership, liquidation or dissolution proceedings or from any law, regulation or order so that each such obligation shall for the purposes of each Debtor's obligations under this Agreement be construed as if there were no such circumstance; or
- (vii) the acceptance or taking of other guaranties or security for the Secured Obligations, or the settlement, release or substitution of any guaranty or security or of any endorser, guarantor or other obligor in respect of the Secured Obligations.
- (b) Each Debtor unconditionally and irrevocably waives:
- (i) diligence, presentment, demand for performance, notice of nonperformance, protest, notice of protest, notice of dishonor, notice of the creation or incurring of new or

additional indebtedness of the Obligors to the Agent or the other Secured Parties, notice of acceptance of this Agreement, and notices of any other kind whatsoever:

- (ii) the filing of any claim with any court in the event of a receivership, insolvency or bankruptcy;
- (iii) the benefit of any statute of limitations affecting any Obligor's obligations under the Finance Documents or each Debtor's obligations under this Agreement or the enforcement of this Agreement or the Agent's security interest in the Collateral; and
- (iv) any offset or counterclaim or other right, defense, or claim based on, or in the nature of, any obligation now or later owed to each Debtor by the Obligors, the Agent or any other Secured Party.
- (c) Each Debtor irrevocably and unconditionally authorizes the Agent and the other Secured Parties to take any action in respect of the Secured Obligations or any collateral or guaranties securing them or any other action that might otherwise be deemed a legal or equitable discharge of a surety, without notice to or the consent of any Debtor and irrespective of any change in the financial condition of any Obligor.

5.3 Immediate recourse

Each Debtor waives any right it may have of first requiring the Agent or any other Secured Party (or any trustee or agent on their behalf) to proceed against or enforce any other rights, security or other guaranty or claim payment from any Obligor or any other person before claiming from such Debtor under this Agreement and enforcing the Agent's security interest in the Collateral of such Debtor.

5.4 Appropriations

Until all amounts which may be or become payable by the Obligors under or in connection with the Finance Documents have been irrevocably and indefeasibly paid in full, the Agent and each other Secured Party (or any trustee or agent on their behalf) may:

- (a) refrain from applying or enforcing any other moneys, security, guaranties or rights held or received by the Agent or that other Secured Party (or any trustee or agent on their behalf) in respect of those amounts, or apply and enforce the same in such manner and order as it sees fit (whether against those amounts or otherwise) and the Pledgor shall not be entitled to the benefit of the same; and
- (b) hold in a suspense account any moneys received from any realization upon the Collateral, from any Debtor or on account of any Debtor's liability under this Agreement or any other Finance Document, without liability to pay interest on those moneys.

5.5 Non-competition; waiver of subrogation

(a) Until all amounts which may be or become payable by the Obligors under or in connection with the Finance Documents have been irrevocably and indefeasibly paid in full, no Debtor shall, after a claim has been made or by virtue of any payment or performance by it under this Agreement:

- (i) be subrogated to any rights, security or moneys held, received or receivable by the Agent or any other Secured Party (or any trustee or agent on their behalf) or be entitled to any right of contribution or indemnity in respect of any payment made or moneys received on account of such Debtor's liability under this Agreement or any other Finance Document;
- (ii) claim, rank, prove or vote as a creditor of any Obligor or its estate in competition with the Agent or any other Secured Party (or any trustee or agent on their behalf); or
- (iii) receive, claim or have the benefit of any payment, distribution or security from or on account of any Obligor, or exercise any right of set-off as against any Obligor,

unless the Agent otherwise consents or directs in writing. Each Debtor shall hold in trust for and forthwith pay or transfer to the Agent (or as directed by the Agent) for the Secured Parties any payment or distribution or benefit of security received by it contrary to this Clause.

(b) Notwithstanding any contrary provision of any guaranty given by any Debtor in respect of the Secured Obligations, each Debtor irrevocably and unconditionally waives, for the benefit of the Agent and the other Secured Parties, and agrees not to claim or assert after the Agent has exercised its rights under Clause 6 (Rights and remedies) below, any right of subrogation, contribution or indemnity it may have against any Obligor as a result of any payment under that guaranty or in respect of the Secured Obligations.

5.6 Additional security

This Agreement and the Collateral are in addition to and are not in any way prejudiced by any other security or guaranty now or subsequently held by any Secured Party.

5.7 Election of remedies

Each Debtor understands that the exercise by the Agent and the other Secured Parties of certain rights and remedies contained in the Finance Documents may affect or eliminate such Debtor's right of subrogation and reimbursement against the Obligors and that such Debtor may therefore incur a partially or totally nonreimbursable liability under this Agreement. Each Debtor expressly authorizes the Agent and the other Secured Parties to pursue their rights and remedies with respect to the Secured Obligations in any order or fashion they deem appropriate, in their sole and absolute discretion, and waives any defense arising out of the absence, impairment, or loss of any or all rights of recourse, reimbursement, contribution, or subrogation or any other rights or remedies of such Debtor against any Obligor, any other person or any security, whether resulting from any election of rights or remedies by the Agent or the other Secured Parties, or otherwise.

5.8 Information concerning the Obligors

Each Debtor represents and warrants to the Agent and the other Secured Parties that such Debtor is affiliated with each other Obligor and is otherwise in a position to have access to all relevant information bearing on the present and continuing creditworthiness of each other Obligor and the risk that any Obligor will be unable to pay the Secured Obligations when due. Each Debtor waives any requirement that the Agent or the other Secured Parties advise such Debtor of information known to the Agent or any other Secured Party regarding the financial condition or business of any Obligor, or any other circumstance bearing on the risk of non-performance of the

Secured Obligations, and each Debtor assumes sole responsibility for keeping informed of the financial condition and business of each Obligor.

6. RIGHTS AND REMEDIES

6.1 Collections on and after the Enforcement Date

On and after the Enforcement Date, each Debtor will hold all funds and other property received or collected in respect of the Collateral in trust for the Agent, and will keep these funds and this other property separate and apart from all other funds and property so as to be capable of identification. Each Debtor will deliver these funds and this other property to the Agent in the identical form received, properly endorsed or assigned when required to enable the Agent to complete collection. On and after the Enforcement Date, no Debtor shall settle, compromise, adjust, discount or release any claim in respect of Collateral and no Debtor shall accept any returns of merchandise.

6.2 Agent's rights upon the occurrence of the Enforcement Date

- (a) On or after the Enforcement Date, the Agent may, in its sole discretion, take any of the following actions, in each case at the Debtors' expense, and without prior notice to the Debtors except as required under applicable law:
- (i) transfer or assign to, or register in the name of, the Agent or its nominees any of the Collateral;
- (ii) exercise all consent and other rights relating to any Collateral;
- (iii) perform or comply with any contractual obligation that constitutes part of the Collateral;
- (iv) receive, endorse, negotiate, execute and deliver or collect upon any check, draft, note, acceptance, chattel paper, account, instrument, document, letter of credit, contract, agreement, receipt, release, bill of lading, invoice, endorsement, assignment, bill of sale, deed, security, share certificate, stock power, proxy, or instrument of conveyance or transfer constituting or relating to any Collateral;
- (v) assert, institute, file, defend, settle, compromise, adjust, discount or release any suit, action, claim, counterclaim or right of set-off relating to any Collateral;
- (vi) execute and deliver acquittances, receipts and releases in respect of Collateral; and
- (vii) exercise any other right or remedy available to the Agent under applicable law, the other Finance Documents, or any other agreement between the parties.
- (b) Each Debtor agrees that the Agent will have, with respect to the Collateral, in addition to the rights and remedies described in this Agreement, all of the rights and remedies available to a secured party under applicable law and under the UCC (whether or not the UCC applies to the affected Collateral and regardless of whether or not the UCC is the law of the jurisdiction where the rights or remedies are asserted) as if those rights and remedies were fully set forth in this Agreement.

- (c) Subject to the limitations set forth in this Agreement, the Agent may exercise the rights and remedies described in this Agreement and those available under applicable law in such order, at such times and in such manner as the Agent may, in its sole discretion, determine from time to time. The Agent may at any time and from time to time release or relinquish any right, remedy, or security interest it has with respect to a particular item of Collateral without releasing, relinquishing, or in any way affecting its rights, remedies, or security interests with respect to any other item of Collateral.
- (d) Each Debtor irrevocably constitutes and appoints the Agent, with full power of substitution, as such Debtor's true and lawful attorney-in-fact, in such Debtor's name or in the Agent's name or otherwise, and at the Debtors' expense, to take any of the actions authorized by this Agreement or permitted under applicable law but only upon and after the occurrence of the Enforcement Date, without notice to or the consent of any Debtor. This power of attorney is a power coupled with an interest and cannot be revoked. Each Debtor ratifies and confirms all actions taken by the Agent or its agents under this power of attorney.
- (e) The Agent may comply with any applicable state or federal law requirements in connection with a disposition of Collateral and compliance will not be considered adversely to affect the commercial reasonableness of any sale of Collateral.
- (f) The grant to the Agent under this Agreement of any right or power does not impose upon the Agent any duty to exercise that right or power. The Agent will have no obligation to take any steps to preserve any claim or other right against any person or with respect to any Collateral.
- (g) All risk of loss, damage, diminution in value, or destruction of the Collateral will be borne by the Debtors.
- (h) Each Debtor agrees that any sale, transfer or other disposition under this Agreement on and after the Enforcement Date of any right, title, or interest of such Debtor in any item of Collateral will operate to permanently divest such Debtor and all persons claiming under or through it of that right, title, or interest, and will be a perpetual bar, both at law and in equity, to any claims by such Debtor or any person claiming under or through it with respect to that item of Collateral.
- (i) No Debtor nor any affiliate or subsidiary of any Debtor shall make any use of the Patents, Copyrights, or Trademarks or any mark similar thereto for any purpose on and after the Enforcement Date.
- (j) The Agent may, at any time and from time to time on and after the Enforcement Date, license (whether general, special or otherwise, and whether on an exclusive or non-exclusive basis) the Collateral, throughout the United States of America, its territories and possessions and all foreign countries, for such term or terms, on such conditions, and in such matter, as the Agent shall in its sole discretion determine.

6.3 No marshaling

The Agent has no obligation to attempt to satisfy the Secured Obligations by collecting them from any other person liable for them and the Agent may release, modify or waive any collateral

provided by any other person to secure any of the Secured Obligations, all without affecting the Agent's rights against each Debtor. Each Debtor waives any right it may have to require Agent to pursue any third person for any of the Secured Obligations. Except to the extent required by applicable law, the Agent will not be required to marshal any collateral securing, or any guaranties of, the Secured Obligations, or to resort to any item of collateral or any guaranty in any particular order, and the Agent's rights with respect to any collateral and any guaranties will be cumulative and in addition to all other rights, however existing or arising. To the extent permitted by applicable law, each Debtor irrevocably waives, and agrees that it will not invoke or assert, any law requiring or relating to the marshaling of collateral or any other law which might cause a delay in or impede the enforcement of the Agent's rights under this Agreement or any other agreement.

7. MISCELLANEOUS

7.1 Further assurances

At any time and from time to time upon the request of the Agent, each Debtor will execute and deliver such further documents and instruments and do such other acts as the Agent may reasonably request in order to effect fully the purposes of this Agreement, to create, perfect, maintain, and preserve a security interest (ranking second only to the first-priority security interest created by the 2005 General Security Agreement) in the Collateral in favor of the Agent for the benefit of the Secured Parties, to facilitate any sale, transfer or other disposition of Collateral and to make any sale, transfer or other disposition of Collateral valid, binding, and in compliance with applicable law.

7.2 Costs and indemnity

- (a) Each Debtor will pay to the Agent on demand all costs reasonably incurred by the Agent for the purpose of enforcing its rights under this Agreement, including:
- (i) costs of foreclosure and of disposition and sale of the Collateral;
- (ii) costs of maintaining or preserving the Collateral or assembling it or preparing it for sale;
- (iii) costs of obtaining money damages; and
- (iv) reasonable fees and expenses of attorneys employed by the Agent for any purpose related to this Agreement or the Secured Obligations, including consultation, drafting documents, sending notices or instituting, prosecuting or defending litigation or arbitration.

but no Debtor will be liable to the Agent to the extent that any liability results from the Agent's gross negligence or willful misconduct or from the material breach of this Agreement by the Agent. Payment by the Agent will not be a condition precedent to the obligations of any Debtor under this indemnity.

(b) Each Debtor agrees to indemnify the Agent, the other Secured Parties and their respective affiliates, directors, officers, representatives and agents from and against all claims, liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, judgments, costs and expenses of any kind (including attorney's fees and expenses) which may be imposed on, incurred by or

asserted against any of them by any person (including any Secured Party) in any way relating to or arising out of:

- (i) this Agreement;
- (ii) the Collateral;
- (iii) the Agent's security interest in the Collateral;
- (iv) any Event of Default:
- (v) any action taken or omitted by the Agent under this Agreement or any exercise or enforcement of rights or remedies under this Agreement; or
- (vi) any sale or other disposition of or any realization on Collateral,

but no Debtor will be liable to an indemnified party to the extent any liability results from that indemnified party's gross negligence or willful misconduct or from the material breach of this Agreement by that indemnified party. Payment by an indemnified party will not be a condition precedent to the obligations of any Debtor under this indemnity.

(c) This Clause 7.2 will survive the Drawdown Date of Facility B Tranche 3, the making and repayment of the Advances, the entry into and performance of the Hedge Documents, any novation, transfer or assignment of the Advances and/or the Hedge Documents and the termination of this Agreement.

7.3 Successors

This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Debtors and the Agent and their respective successors and assigns, except that no Debtor may assign or transfer all or any part of its rights or obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the Agent, and any assignment by any Debtor in violation of this provision shall be void and of no effect. Each Debtor waives and will not assert against any assignee of the Agent any claims, defenses or set-offs which any Debtor could assert against the Agent except for defenses which cannot be waived under applicable law, it being understood and agreed that the foregoing waiver shall not apply to any claims, defenses or set-offs that such Debtor may be entitled to raise against the Secured Parties generally.

7.4 Amendments and waivers

Any term of this Agreement may be amended or waived only by the written agreement of each Debtor and the Agent.

7.5 Rights cumulative

The rights and remedies of the Agent under this Agreement:

- (a) may be exercised as often as necessary;
- (b) are cumulative and not exclusive of its rights under applicable law; and

(c) may be waived only in writing and specifically.

The Agent's delay in exercising, or failure to exercise, any right or remedy under this Agreement is not a waiver of that right or remedy.

7.6 Severability

If any provision of this Agreement is or becomes illegal, invalid or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, that shall not affect:

- (a) the legality, validity or enforceability in that jurisdiction of any other provision of this Agreement; or
- (b) the legality, validity or enforceability in any other jurisdiction of that or any other provision of this Agreement.

7.7 Counterparts

This Agreement may be executed in counterpart, and this has the same effect as if the signatures on the counterparts were on a single copy of this Agreement.

7.8 Notices

- (a) All notices or other communications under or in connection with this Agreement shall be given in writing. Any such notice will be deemed to be given:
- (i) if by mail or courier, when delivered; and
- (ii) if by facsimile, when sent with confirmation of transmission,

except that a notice given on a day which is not a Banking Day or after business hours in the place of receipt will only be deemed to be given on the next Banking Day in that place.

(b) The address and facsimile number of each Debtor are:

c/o Weetabix Limited Weetabix Mills Burton Latimer Kettering Northants NN15 5JR

Attention:

Richard Martin

Telefax:

011+44 (0)1536 421 919

with a copy to (which shall not constitute notice):

Lion Capital LLP 21 Grosvenor Place London SW1X 7HF

Attention:

Lyndon Lea/Robert Darwent

Telefax: 011+44 (0)20 7201-2222

(c) The address and facsimile number of the Agent are:

125 London Wall London EC2Y 5AJ

Attention:

Claire Johnson, Agency Loans Department

Telefax:

011+44 (0)20 7777-2360

(d) Either party may change its address or facsimile number for notices by a notice to the other party given in accordance with this Clause 7.8 (Notices).

7.9 Jurisdiction

- (a) For the benefit of the Agent, each Debtor agrees that any New York State court or Federal court sitting in the City and County of New York has jurisdiction to settle any disputes in connection with this Agreement and accordingly submits to the jurisdiction of those courts.
- (b) Without prejudice to any other mode of service, each Debtor:
- (i) irrevocably appoints CT Corporation System, 111 8th Avenue, 13th Floor, New York, New York 10011 as its agent for service of process in relation to any proceedings before any courts located in the State of New York in connection with this Agreement;
- (ii) agrees to maintain an agent for service of process in the State of New York until the Agent's Lien is released in accordance with Clause 7.13 (Release of Security Interest) below:
- (iii) agrees that failure by a process agent to notify such Debtor of the process will not invalidate the proceedings concerned;
- (iv) consents to the service of process relating to any proceedings by a notice given in accordance with Clause 7.8 (Notices) above; and
- (v) agrees that if the appointment of any person mentioned in paragraph (b)(i) above ceases to be effective, such Debtor shall immediately appoint a further person in the State of New York to accept service of process on its behalf in the State of New York, and, if such Debtor does not appoint a process agent within 15 days, the Agent is entitled and authorized to appoint a process agent for such Debtor by notice to it.
- (c) Each Debtor:
- (i) waives objection to the New York State and Federal courts on grounds of personal jurisdiction, inconvenient forum or otherwise as regards proceedings in connection with this Agreement; and

- (ii) agrees that a judgment or order of a New York State or Federal court in connection with this Agreement is conclusive and binding on it and may be enforced against it in the courts of any other jurisdiction.
- (d) Nothing in this Clause 7.9 limits the right of the Agent or any other Secured Party to bring proceedings against any Debtor in connection with this Agreement:
- (i) in any other court of competent jurisdiction; or
- (ii) concurrently in more than one jurisdiction.

7.10 Complete Agreement

This Agreement contains the complete agreement between the parties on the matters to which it relates and supersedes all prior commitments, agreements and understandings, whether written or oral, on those matters.

7.11 Waiver of Jury Trial

EACH DEBTOR AND THE AGENT (FOR ITSELF AND ON BEHALF OF THE OTHER SECURED PARTIES) WAIVE ANY RIGHTS THEY MAY HAVE TO A JURY TRIAL OF ANY CLAIM OR CAUSE OF ACTION BASED ON OR ARISING FROM THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED BY THIS AGREEMENT. In the event of litigation, this Agreement may be filed as a written consent to a trial by the court.

7.12 Governing Law

This Agreement is governed by the laws of the State of New York, except to the extent that the validity, perfection or enforcement of any security interest granted under this Agreement or any remedy in respect of any particular Collateral is mandatorily governed by the law of another jurisdiction.

7.13 Release of Security Interest

Once the Secured Obligations have been irrevocably and indefeasibly discharged in full and all obligations which might give rise to Secured Obligations have terminated, the Agent shall promptly at the request and cost of each Debtor execute and do all such deeds, acts and things as may be reasonably necessary to release or (as appropriate) re-assign the Collateral from the Lien created by this Agreement. In addition, the Agent shall, if directed by the Secured Parties in accordance with the Intercreditor Agreement, at the cost of each Debtor execute and do all such deeds, acts and things as may be reasonably necessary to release or (as appropriate) re-assign any Collateral from the Lien created by this Agreement, in each case solely to the extent authorized by such direction.

The undersigned, intending to be legally bound, have executed and delivered this Agreement on the date stated at the beginning of this Agreement.

SIGNATORIES

Debtor

The Weetabix Company, Inc.

By:

/s/ Joseph M. Ellis, Jr.

Barbara's Bakery, Inc.

By:

/s/ Lorraine Hood

Weetabix Limited

By:

/s/ Ken Leslie Wood

/s/ R. Martin

Weetabix of Canada Limited

By:

/s/ Ken Leslie Wood

Agent

J.P. Morgan Europe Limited, as Security Agent for the Secured Parties

By:

/s/ Justin Dowd

COMMERCIAL TORT CLAIMS

[None.]

73742-00093 NY:2128403.6

CONTRACTS AND COUNTERPARTIES TO CONTRACTS BEING ASSIGNED

| Part 1 | | |
|--------------------------------|-----------------------------------|--|
| Account, Contract or Agreement | Account Debtor or Contract Debtor | |
| [None.] | [None.] | |
| | art 2 cense Agreements | |
| ſΝ | one.] | |

TRADEMAR

28

ADDRESSES AT WHICH COLLATERAL CONSISTING OF GOODS IS LOCATED

THE WEETABIX COMPANY, INC.

- 20 Cameron Street, Clinton, Massachusetts
- 11 Adams Road, Clinton, Massachusetts
- 99 Green Street, Clinton, Massachusetts
- 12 Industrial Drive, Sterling, Massachusetts

BARBARA'S BAKERY, INC.

3900 Cypress Drive, Petaluma, California

3750 Pell Circle, Sacramento, California

16150 E. Stephens Street, City of Industry, California

10711 Bloomfield Street, Los Alamitos, California

312 Rader Road, McComb, Ohio

73742-00093 NY:2128403.6

COPYRIGHTS

THE WEETABIX COMPANY, INC.

| Reg. No. | Title | |
|------------|-----------------|--------------|
| VA-423-589 | Grain-Gineering |) |

SCHEDULE 5

PATENTS

None found.

32

73742-00093 NY:2128403.6

TRADEMARK REEL: 003551 FRAME: 0038

SCHEDULE 6

TRADEMARKS

BARBARA'S BAKERY, INC.

| | Т | | | | |
|-------------------------|---|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Comments | | Associated with TMA512,335, TMA515,148, TMA612,282 | Associated with TMA512,335, TMA512,336, TMA612,282 | Associated with TMA512,335, TMA515,148, TMA612,282 | Associated with TMA5/2,336, TMA5/2,336, TMA5/5,438 TMA655,437 |
| Specification | | Snack food, namely granola-based snack bels, cereal- based snack food, fruit-based snack food, rice-based snack food, wheat-based snack food; cereal, namely cereal-based snack food, ready-to-eat cereal derived food, breakfast cereals, processed cereals, baked goods, namely crackers, crisps, cookies, snack bars; cookies; crackers. | Snack food, namely granola-based snack bars, cercal- based snack food, fruit-based snack food, rice-based snack food, wheat-based snack food; cercal, namely cercal-based snack food, ready-to-eat cercal derived food, breakfast cercals, processed cercals; baked goods, namely crackers, crisps, cookles, snack bars; cookles; cackers. | Snack food, namely granola-based snack bats, cereal- based snack food, fruit-based snack food, iroe-based snack food, wheat-based snack food; cereal, namely cereal-based snack food, ready-to-eat cereal derived food, breakfast cereals, processed cereals; baked goods, namely crackers, crisps, cookies, snack bats; cookies, crackers. | Snack food, namely granola-based snack bars, cereal-based snack food, full-based snack food, rice based snack food, ince based snack food, one based snack food, one based snack food, grain based snack bars, dried fruits, crackers, cookies and breakfast cereals based from com, rice, wheat, outs or other grains, potatio chips, mashed potato flakes, processed organic foods, namely dried fruits, cookies, crackers and cereals, namely breakfast cereals, processed cereals, unprocessed cereals. |
| Next Renewal Date | | | | | |
| Registration Date | | 27-May-99 | 25-Aug-99 | 27-May-99 | 7-Jun-04 |
| Registration No. | | TMA512335 | TMA515148 | TMA512336 | TMA612282 |
| Application Date | | 14-Nov-97 | 14-Nov-97 | 14-Nov-97 | 24-May-02 |
| Application No. | | 0861621 | 0861622 | 0861623 | 1141723 |
| Trade Mark | | BARBARA'S BAKERY | BARBARA'S BAKERY (+ Device) | BARBARA'S BAKERY & DESIGN | BARBARA'S BAKERY GREAT TASTE WITHOUT COMPROMISE & DESIGN |
| Status | | REG | REG | REG | REG |
| Country | | CANADA | CANADA | CANADA | CANADA |
| File No. | | | | | |

73742-00093 NY:2128403.6

33

| | | _ | _ |
|---------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------|
| 8 7-Jul-87 6 27-Sep-05 | 0v-97 TMA520985 0v-97 TMA520985 73-579828 78-433776 ep-02 | 0861627 14-Nov-97 TMA52088 0861628 14-Nov-97 TMA52088 73-57982 76-416819 16-Sep-02 | 14-Nov-97 TT 14-Nov-97 TT 16-Sep-02 |

| 8403.6 |
|--------|
| 7:212 |
| 093 N |
| 8 |

34

| | | | | | ation | ration d | | | | | | | | | |
|--------------|---------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------|-----------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| | Comments | | | | International registration 864665. | International registration 864665. Associated with 2119937 | | | | | | | | | |
| | Specification | Class 30: Processed organic foods, namely, grahambased crackers. US Class 46: Foods and ingredients of foods. | Class 30: Food products, namely cockles, crackers, breakfast cereals, cereal-based snack bat's and puffed corn anacka. US Class 46: Foods and ingredients of foods. | Class 30: Grain-based snack bars, US Class 46: Foods and ingredients of foods. | Class 30: Breakfast cereal, US Class 46: Foods and ingredients of foods. | Class 30: Cereal-based snack bars. US Class 46: Foods and Ingredients of foods. | Class 30: Crackers. US Class 46: Foods and ingredients of foods. | Class 30: Breakfast cereal. US Class 46: Foods and ingredients of foods. | Class 30: Breakfast cereals. US Class 46: Foods and ingredients of foods. | Class 30: Granola based snack bars, fruit based snack bars. | Class 30: Foods products, namely breakfast cereals. US Class 46: Foods and ingredients of foods. | | | Class 29: Food products, namely, potato chips and dehydrated mashled potatoes. Class 30: Food dehydrated mashled potatoes. Class 30: Food cereally, carekers, cookies, breakfast cereals, cereal-based snack bars, puffed com snacks; granolabased snack bars, nutrient dense, grain-based snack bars. | Class 29: Food products, namely, potato chips and deliydratad mashed potatoes. Class 30: Food products, namely, crackers, crokies, breakfast cereals, cereal-based snack bars, puffed corn snacks; grandabars, namely based snacks; nutrient dense, grain-based snack bars. |
| Next | Date | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Registration | Date | 24-Aug-04 | 21-Mar-06 | 14-May-85 | 9-Dec-97 | 20-Jun-06 | 5-Jun-01 | 5-Sep-95 | 10-Jun-03 | 11-Oct-88 | 19-Oct-04 | | | 10 -N ov-05 | |
| Rooistration | No. | 78-226650 | 76-410682 | 73-453379 | 75-224649 | 78-680802 | 75-553786 | 74-498494 | 76-093321 | 73-641079 | 78-316706 | , | i | 878508 | |
| Annication | Date | | | | | | | | | | | | | | 10-Nov-05 |
| Amplication | No. | | | | | | | | | | | | | | 878508 |
| | Trade Mark | GO GO GRAHAMS | GREAT TASTE WITHOUT COMPROMISE | NATURE'S CHOICE | PUFFINS | PUFFINS | RITE LITE ROUNDS | SHREDDED SPOONFULS | SOYESSENCE | SUNFIELD (+ Device) | WILD PUFFS | | BARBARA'S | | |
| | Status | REG | REG | REG | REG | REG | REG | REG | REG | REG | REG | | | REG | PEN |
| | Country | Sn | Sn | Sn | Sn | sn | sn | Sn | Sn | sn | Sn | International | | AUSTRALIA | CHINA |
| | File No. | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |

35

| | | | | | | | | Next | | |
|----------|-----------|---------|------------|--------------------|---------------------|---------------------|----------------------|-----------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------|
| File No. | Country | Status | Trade Mark | Application No. | Application Date | Registration No. | Registration Date | Renewal Date | Specification | Comments |
| - | | | | | | | | | | |
| | na En | ben ben | | 878508 | 10-Nov-05 | | | | Class 29: Food products, namely, potato chips and dehydrated mashed potatoes. Class 30. Food products, namely, crackers, cookles, breakfast cereals, cereal-based snack bars, puffed corn snacks; granolabased snack bars, nutrient dense, grain-based snack bars. | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | PUFFINS | | | | | | | |
| | AUSTRALIA | REG | | | | 864665 | 9-Dec-97 | | Class 30: Breakfast cereal and cereal based snack bars | |
| | CHINA | PEN | | 864665 | 9-Dec-97 | | | | Class 30: Breakfast cereal and cereal based snack bars | |
| | EU | PEN | | 864665 | 9-Dec-97 | | | | Class 30: Breakfast cereal and cereal based snack bars | May face Opposition |
| | KOREA | REG | | | | 864665 | 9-Dec-97 | | Class 30: Breakfast cereal and cereal based snack bars | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |

36

73742-00093 NY:2128403.6

TRADEMARK REEL: 003551 FRAME: 0042

THE WEETABLY COMPANY, INC.

| • | | \neg | 1 | | 1 | | | | Т | | | | | | | | | — _] |
|-------------------------|---------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Comments | Accordated with | Associated With 1416840 | Associated with 1293105, 1307322, 2402586 | Associated with 2032462 | | | | | Associated with 2032462 | | ļ | | | Associated with 1293105, 1307322, 2402586 | | | Associated with 1550379, 1653338 | Second extension granted 14 November 2006 |
| Specification | Oleve 400 Terrated and Oleve 400 French and | Class 30, preaktast cereal. US Class 40, Foods and ingredients of foods. | Class 30: Breakfast cereal, US Class 46: Foods and ingredients of foods. | Class 30: Breakfast cereal. US Class 46: Foods and Ingredients of foods. | Class 30: Breakfast cereal. US Class 46: Foods and ingredients of foods. | Class 30: Breakfast cereal. US Class 46: Foods and ingredients of foods. | Class 30: Breakfast cereal. US Class 46: Foods and ingredients of foods. | Class 30: Breakfast cereal. US Class 46: Foods and ingredients of foods. | Class 30: Breakfast cereal. US Class 46: Foods and ingredients of foods. | Class 30: Breakfast cereal. US Class 46: Foods and ingredients of foods. | Class 30: Breakfast cereal. US Class 46: Foods and ingredients of foods. | Class 30: Breakfast cereal. US Class 46: Foods and ingredients of foods. | Class 30: Breakfast cereal. US Class 46: Foods and ingredients of foods. | Class 30: Breakfast cereal. US Class 46: Foods and ingredients of foods. | Class 30: Ready to eat cereals. US Class 46: Foods and ingredients of foods. | Class 30: Breakfast cereal. | Class 30: Ready to eat cereals. US Class 46: Foods and ingredients of foods. | Class 30: Breakfast cereal. US Class 46: Foods and ingredients of foods. |
| Next Renewal Date | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Registration Date | 10 11 07 | 18-Nov-97 | 5-Nov-02 | 19-Mar-02 | 12-Jun-90 | 6-Aug-91 | 2-Oct-01 | 16-Dec-03 | 13-Nov-01 | 15-Jul-97 | 11-Nov-86 | 1-Aug-89 | 2-Oct-01 | 5-Nov-02 | 27-Mar-84 | †6-ue∱-† | 13-Nov-01 | |
| Registration No. | 700700 | 75-034684 | 76-143754 | 75-906864 | 73-716752 | 74-057320 | 75-724623 | 78-057372 | 75-906863 | 75-023274 | 73-505908 | 73-739671 | 75-724423 | 76-143755 | 73-393640 | 74-312930 | 75-605334 | |
| Application Date | | _ | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | 27-Sep-04 |
| Application No. | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | 78-486291 |
| Trade Mark | | APPLE CINNAMON CIRCLES | BANANABIX | BANANA CRUNCHY DELIGHT | BREAKFAST GOLD | COCOA DOTS | COCOA SPECKLES | CORN CRAZIES | CRANBERRY CRUNCHY DELIGHT | DISTINCTLY LITE | FRUIT CIRCLES | FRUIT DOTS | FRUITY SPECKLES | FRUTIBIX | GRAINFIELDS | HIGH NUTRITION | PEANUT BUTTER DOTS | W+ |
| Status | 4 | a B B | REG | REG | REG | REG |
| Country | ! | so | Sn | sn - | sn | sn | Sh | sn | Sn | Sn | sn | sn |
| File No. | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |

37

73742-00093 NY:2128403.6

TRADEMARK REEL: 003551 FRAME: 0043

WEETABIX OF CANADA LIMITED - TRADE MARK DETAILS

| Comments | | | | | | | | Associated with TMA530,470, 1,240,528 | Associated with | TMA539,470, TMA539,502 | | | | | Associated with TMA393,758, TMA489,022 | | Associated with TMA489,022 868,901 | | | | | | Associated with 2505293 | |
|-------------------------|--------------------|-----------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------|--------------------|--------------------|-------------|-----------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------|-----------------|---------------------------|-----------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------|---------------------|---------------------|----------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------|--------------------|--------------------|-----------------------------------------------|--------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Specification | Breakfast cereals. | Breakfast cereal and cereal based snack food. | Cereals, namely breakfast cereal. | Breakfast cereals. | Breakfast cereals. | Cereals. | Breakfast cereal and cereal based snack food. | Breakfast cereal and cereal based snack food. | Cereal bars. | | Breakfast cereal and cereal based snack food. | Breakfast cereal and cereal based snack food. | Breakfast cereals. | Cereal products. | Breakfast cereals. | Breakfast cereal and cereal based snack food. | Breakfast cereal and cereal based snack food. | Breakfast cereals. | Breakfast cereals. | Breakfast cereal and cereal based snack food. | Breakfast cereals. | Class 30: Breakfast cereal and cereal based snack food. US Class 46: Foods and ingredients of foods. | Class 30: Breakfast cereals; Cereal based snack food. US Class 46: Foods and ingredients of foods. | Class 30: Breakfast cereal and cereal based snack food. US Class 46: Foods and ingredients of foods. |
| Next Renewal Date | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Registration Date | 3-Dec-93 | 5-Feb-01 | 10-Feb-99 | 30-Aug-04 | 8-Jul-94 | 24-Jan-00 | 10-Jan-01 | 10-Jan-01 | | | 25-Jul-00 | 24-Jan-02 | 2-Feb-98 | | 2-Jun-95 | | | 16-Feb-96 | 7-Feb-92 | | 28-Feb-92 | 6-Nov-01 | 24-Oct-06 | 6-Jan-04 |
| Registration No. | TMA420309 | TMA540810 | TMA507849 | TMA618008 | TMA430322 | TMA522108 | TMA539502 | TMA539502 | | | TMA530470 | TMA556823 | TMA489022 | | TMA443449 | | | TMA454091 | TMA393758 | | TMA394947 | 75-814524 | 78-767768 | 78-106974 |
| Application Date | 1-May-92 | 23-Mar-99 | 17-Oct-96 | 1-May-92 | 16-Jun-93 | 7-Oct-96 | 27-Nov-98 | 27-Nov-98 | 13-Dec-04 | | 4-Feb-99 | 23-Mar-99 | 2-Mar-95 | 26-Nov-04 | 1-May-92 | 10-Feb-98 | 13-Feb-98 | 17-Dec-92 | 2-Nov-88 | 14-Mar-05 | 2-Apr-91 | | | |
| Application No. | 0704151 | 1009501 | 0826154 | 0704156 | 0731092 | 0825265 | 0897703 | £0226 9 0 | 1240528 | | 1004316 | 1009500 | 0776852 | 1238823 | 0704154 | 10868901 | 0869402 | 0719056 | 0618376 | 1250548 | 000679000 | | | |
| Trade Mark | COCOA DOTS | CROUSTIFIBRES | FARMHOUSE | FRUIT DOTS | FRUIT CIRCLES | GRAINFIELDS | GRAINSHOP | GRAINSHOP | GRAINSHOP | | GRAIN SHOP & DESIGN | HIGH FIBRE CRISP | HONEY NUT OAT HOOPS | HONEY NUT OAT HOOPS | HONET NUT OAT WHEELS | HOOPS | OAT HOOPS | OAT STARS | OAT WHEELS | RAISIN CRISP | RONDELLES D'AVOINE | GRAIN SHOP | GRAINSHOP | GRAINWORKS |
| Status | REG | REG | REG | REG | REG | REG | REG | REG | PEN | | REG | REG | REG | PEN | REG | PEN | PEN | EG FEG | REG | PEN | REG | REG | REG | REG |
| Country | CANADA | CANADA | CANADA | CANADA | CANADA | CANADA | CANADA | CANADA | CANADA | | CANADA | CANADA | CANADA | CANADA | CANADA | CANADA | CANADA | CANADA | CANADA | CANADA | CANADA | ns | SN . | Sn |
| File No. | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |

FORM OF ASSIGNMENT NOTICE

[Date]

Dear Sirs,

To:

[Relevant party]

We give you notice that, by a Security Agreement dated $[\bullet]$ (the Security Agreement), made by $[\bullet]$ (we or us) in favor of $[\bullet]$ as agent for the Secured Parties referred to in the Security Agreement (the Agent), we have granted a first-priority security interest to the Agent in all of our right, title and interest in, to and arising under the $[\bullet]$ dated $[\bullet]$ by and between $[\bullet]$ (the Assigned Obligation).

We irrevocably instruct and authorize you, without any further authorization from us or notice to us:

- (a) to disclose to the Agent such information relating to the Assigned Obligation as the Agent may at any time and from time to time request;
- (b) to comply with the terms of any written notice or instructions received by you from the Agent in any way relating to, or purporting to relate to, the Assigned Obligation, including without limitation instructions relating to the payment of moneys under the Assigned Obligation; and
- (c) to send copies of all notices and other information required or permitted to be sent to us under the Assigned Obligation to the Agent as follows:

 Fax:
 [●]

 Telex:
 [●]

 Attention:
 [●]

Please note that under the terms of the Security Agreement, we are permitted to exercise our rights under the Assigned Obligation unless and until you receive a notice or instruction from the Agent to the contrary. In the event you receive conflicting instructions from us and from the Agent, you are instructed to follow the instructions of the Agent.

Please also note that these instructions may not be revoked or amended without the prior written consent of the Agent.

1

| I his letter shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the law of the State of New Tork. |
|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Please confirm your agreement to the above by sending a signed copy of the attached acknowledgement to the Agent with a copy to ourselves. |
| Yours faithfully, |
| |
| |
| [Debtor] |
| By: |
| Title: |

FORM OF BAILEE NOTICE

[Date]

Dear Sirs,

To:

[Relevant party]

We give you notice that, by a Security Agreement dated [•] (the Security Agreement), made by [•] (we or us) in favor of [•] as agent for the Secured Parties referred to in the Security Agreement (the Agent), we have granted a security interest to the Agent in all property (the Property) belonging to us that is now or later in your possession, including without limitation the following:

We irrevocably direct you to hold possession of the Property for the Agent's benefit. In addition, we irrevocably instruct and authorize you, without any further authorization from us or notice to us:

- (a) to disclose to the Agent such information relating to the Property as the Agent may at any time and from time to time request;
- (b) to comply with the terms of any written notice or instructions received by you from the Agent in any way relating to, or purporting to relate to, the Property, including without limitation instructions relating to the delivery of the Property;
- (c) to permit the Agent and its agents and representatives, at any reasonable time and from time to time, to inspect the Property, to examine and make copies of and abstracts from your records concerning the Property and to discuss these records and other matters relating to the Property with your officers and employees; and
- (d) to send copies of all notices and other information required or permitted to be sent to us with respect to the Property to the Agent as follows:

[**•**]

 Fax:
 [●]

 Telex:
 [●]

 Attention:
 [●]

Please note that under the terms of the Security Agreement, we are permitted to exercise our rights with respect to the Property unless and until you receive a notice or instruction from the Agent to the contrary. In the event you receive conflicting instructions from us and from the Agent, you are instructed to follow the instructions of the Agent.

Please also note that these instructions may not be revoked or amended without the prior written consent of the Agent.

This letter shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the law of the State of New York.

Please confirm your agreement to the above by sending a signed copy of the attached acknowledgement to the Agent with a copy to ourselves.

Yours faithfully,

[Debtor]

By:

Title:

5

FORM OF BAILEE ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

| To: [●] as Agent | |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------|
| Dear Sirs | |
| We confirm that we have received from [•] (the Debtor) a notice dated [•] informing us that the D has granted to you a security interest in all property (the Property) belonging to the Debtor that is no later in our possession. | |
| We acknowledge and confirm that: | |
| (a) we are holding possession of the Property for your benefit; | |
| (b) we accept the instructions and authorization contained in that notice and we undertake to accordance with and comply with the terms of that notice; | act in |
| (c) we will not deliver the Property to the Debtor or any other person if we receive instructions you to the contrary; and | from |
| (d) we have not received notice of any claim or interest of any third party in or to the Property. | |
| | |
| [Relevant party] | |
| By: Title: | |

UCC Financing Statements

[see attached]

7

RECORDED: 05/30/2007